
                                  

AGENDA
For a meeting of the

SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE
to be held on

TUESDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2018
at

2.00 PM
in the

STUDIO 4, GUILDHALL ARTS CENTRE, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM, LINCOLNSHIRE, NG31 6PZ

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Chairman
Councillor Barry Dobson

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Kelham Cooke

Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Jacky Smith (Vice-Chairman)

Committee Support
Officer:

Jo Toomey Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed below.

1  MEMBERSHIP 

The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

2  APOLOGIES 

3  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 

4  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 3 JULY 2018 (Pages 3 - 8)

(Enclosure)

5  ACTION NOTES FROM THE WORKSHOP HELD ON 16 JANUARY 2018 
(Pages 9 - 13)

(Enclosure)

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk


Exclusion of the public
It is anticipated that the press and public will be excluded during the following 
item of business because of the likelihood that information that is exempt 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
(information relating to the business affairs of an individual or organisation) 
would be disclosed to them.

6  AWARD OF CONTRACT - WHERRY'S LANE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 
(Pages 14 - 23)

Report of the Directors of Gravitas. (Enclosure)

7  FINANCIAL CASHFLOW UPDATE 

Presentation by Gravitas Director, Richard Wyles.

8  ANY OTHER BUSINESS, WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 



MINUTES
SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE
TUESDAY, 3 JULY 2018

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Barry Dobson (Chairman)
Councillor Graham Jeal

Councillor Michael King
Councillor Jacky Smith (Vice-Chairman)

OTHER MEMBERS GRAVITAS

Councillor Nick Neilson

OFFICERS

Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie 
Mogg)
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

Tracey Blackwell (Director)
Harry Rai (Director from minute 4 
onwards)
Richard Wyles (Director)
Jane McDaid
Gemma Harte

1. MEMBERSHIP

The Committee was advised that Councillor King would be substituting for 
Councillor Cooke for this meeting only.

2. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed.

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 17 APRIL 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record.

One Member asked a number of questions related to matters captured in the 
minutes of the previous meeting.

Updated business plan

At the last meeting Members were advised that a revised business plan would 
be presented at this meeting with the action notes made during a workshop 
held in January 2018 being supplied as a background paper.

Page - 3

Agenda Item 4



One of the Gravitas Directors explained that as the Committee’s direction 
during the workshop was to focus on delivering the scheme at Wherry’s Lane, a 
new business plan had not been produced at this time. It was suggested that 
the discussion on pipeline projects that formed part of the agenda for this 
meeting would inform any business plan that emerged.

In order to bring the action notes from the workshop into the public domain the 
Director suggested that they could be attached to the agenda for the next 
meeting with the minutes of this meeting.

Monthly activity report

At its meeting on 17 April 2018 the Committee had requested a monthly activity 
report including financial reporting. The Committee was informed that the 
Chairman had met with the Directors to discuss the frequency of meetings, the 
outcome of which was reflected in the annual programme of meetings agreed 
by Council on 24 May 2018. Members were advised that the reporting patterns 
had been tailored around the frequency and timing of the meetings. 

Members were particularly interested in Gravitas’ expenditure to date. Directors 
reassured the Committee that costs incurred so far were within the cost 
envelope of money provided by the Council. As yet the land at Wherry’s Lane 
had not been bought by Gravitas, a non-key decision had been made that 
determined the land would transfer to the company upon receipt of planning 
permission. An overview of cashflow would be included as part of the update 
on Wherry’s Lane.

4. CONSIDERATION OF DIRECTORSHIPS

Decision:

1. The Shareholder Committee appoints the Assistant Director, 
Housing as a Director of Gravitas

2. The Shareholder Committee appoints the Assistant Director, 
Growth as a Director of Gravitas from such time as she becomes an 
employee of the Council

3. That the Strategic Advisor – Housing Led Regeneration continues 
to serve as a Director of Gravitas until the Assistant Director, 
Growth becomes an employee of the Council

The Strategic Advisor – Housing Led Regeneration, the Assistant Director, 
Housing and the appointed but not yet in post Assistant Director, Growth left 
the meeting

The Solicitor to the Council presented report number LDS302 which asked the 
Committee to consider the appointment of directors to Gravitas. The former 
Strategic Directors had agreed to step down given their changes in role and 
two new appointments were proposed: the Assistant Directors for Housing and 
Growth. Members noted that the appointee to the role of Assistant Director for 

Page - 4



Growth would not begin her formal employment with the Council until 
September 2018; the Strategic Advisor – Housing Led Regeneration had 
agreed to continue in the role as a director of the company until that time.

The Assistant Director, Housing had been working for the Council for several 
months and Members agreed unanimously to the appointment of the Assistant 
Director, Housing as a Director of Gravitas.

One Member asked whether any information was available on the second 
proposed appointment as they were not aware of her previous experience. One 
Committee Member gave a brief overview of the background of the proposed 
appointee. 

As the proposed appointee would be an employee of the Council it was 
suggested that the only further vetting that may be necessary would be any 
history relating to other directorship appointments. This was not a standard 
check but Members were advised that it could be carried out if necessary. 

A majority of Members voted in support of the appointment of the Assistant 
Director, Growth as a Director of Gravitas from the time she became an 
employee of the Council. 

Until that time, it was agreed that the Strategic Advisor, Housing Led 
Regeneration would continue to serve as a Director. Councillor Baxter 
requested that his vote in abstention be recorded.

The Strategic Advisor – Housing Led Regeneration, the Assistant Director, 
Housing and the Assistant Director, Growth returned to the meeting

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

Committee members agreed that the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following two items of business because of the 
likelihood that information that is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) would be disclosed to them.

14:29 – Members of the press and public were excluded from the meeting

5. GRAVITAS DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

One of the Gravitas Directors gave a presentation on potential pipeline 
projects.

He explained that the Council had identified all the land in its ownership and 
was undertaking analysis of each site taking into consideration:

 Site capacity and density
 Planning policy
 Possible delivery routes

Page - 5



 Construction options
 Tenure options
 Investment return potential

The Council was also exploring other opportunities to deliver housing including 
acquisition of land, stock transfers and purchase of new and existing market 
sale homes.

Members were shown a series of maps which gave an overview of the 
distribution of sites across the district, the estimated viability of market sales, 
market rental and rental with an intermediate uplift.

A range of sale options were highlighted: market sale, Help to Buy, discounted 
market sale or a local shared equity product. The disposal method would be 
based on the financial viability of each individual scheme.

Identifying target markets and setting a minimum investment return were 
identified as potential selection criteria for projects in which Gravitas may be 
interested.

An overview of the work that had been completed by the Council so far was 
due to be considered by the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC). 
Growth OSC would be asked to recommend schemes for detailed assessment, 
and consideration of the design layout and possible delivery mechanism.

From the work that had been completed so far, it was anticipated there were at 
least 6 sites that presented an opportunity for Gravitas, with the potential to 
deliver 53 to 88 properties. 

In discussion, Members discussed the purpose of Gravitas. The Shareholder 
Committee was reminded that the company had been set up for commercial 
purposes; making a return on assets, generating new income for the Council, 
and developing land that would not otherwise be developed by the private 
sector. The relationship between the company’s and the Council’s objectives 
was also noted. Members suggested that it might be helpful to produce a one 
page overview of the guiding principles behind Gravitas to support their 
considerations.

Other issues considered included:

 Whether there was a role for Gravitas in the delivery of Spitalgate Heath 
Garden Village

 Opportunities to create subsidiary companies including a rental arm
 Whether the Shareholder Committee would be prepared to accept a 

return below its projected level
 Options for the disposal of land by the Council
 Different delivery models that the Council might consider and 

opportunities for Gravitas to get involved as part of those arrangements 

Page - 6



Action Points

 Circulate a one page overview of the guiding principles behind 
Gravitas

 Circulate a copy of the business plan for the Wherry’s Lane 
Development to Shareholder Committee Members 

 Refresh the Gravitas business plan for consideration by the 
Shareholder Committee at its meeting in October 2018

6. UPDATE ON WHERRY'S LANE

Members noted the contents of the exempt update report that was circulated 
with the Committee agenda.

Committee members received an update from the Directors on the progress of 
the planning application in respect of the Wherry’s Lane development. 
Discussion concentrated on how affordable housing could be provided through 
the development. The report had been withdrawn from the Development 
Management Committee meeting on Tuesday 26 June 2018 at the request of 
the company to enable the proposals for the delivery of affordable housing 
arising from the Wherry’s Lane development to be refined.

Members discussed the Council’s policy in relation to Section 106 Agreements 
and affordable housing provision. 

The initial application for planning permission had been for the provision of 
offsite affordable housing located within Bourne funded through the payment of 
a commuted sum. A number of additional options were discussed:

 Provision onsite as part of the scheme
 Shared equity
 Discounted sale

Consideration was given to whether each proposed alternative had previously 
been used successfully in the district and how those examples might apply to 
the Gravitas development.

Given the layout and nature of the scheme with shared areas that would be 
liable for a service charge, Directors did not consider that onsite provision of 
any affordable rented housing would be either practical or sustainable. 
Between shared equity and discounted sale, the Directors indicated that the 
latter was their preference.

The Directors had concluded that it would be possible to supply 4 units on site 
for discounted sale within the development scheme with the balance of the 
value of the notional “commuted sum” being paid to the Council as a 
contribution to provide additional Council housing tailored to meet local needs 
in Bourne. A development site, currently in the ownership of the Council, had 
been identified.

Page - 7



A discount would be applied to the sale price of the designated units for 
applicants who met prescribed criteria. Any subsequent sale would also be at a 
similarly reduced price and the criteria any buyer would need to meet would 
continue in perpetuity. 

Action: 

It was noted that the company had updated its proposals on the Wherry’s 
Lane scheme to include 4 discounted market sale units. 

16:05 – Councillor Jeal left the meeting

Members of the Shareholder Committee received a brief overview of the 
company’s cashflow, which highlighted expenditure in respect of the Wherry’s 
Lane project. The majority of the costs to date had been associated with the 
preparation of the initial designs and the planning application. The update also 
gave a breakdown of calculations in relation to the commercial loan that the 
Council had made to Gravitas.

Finally the Committee was given a brief overview on the process for re-
charges, including the use of timesheet recording to capture officer time spent 
on Gravitas projects. Members were reassured that costs incurred by the 
Council on company activity during 2017/18 would also be attributed to the 
project.

7. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 16:18.

Page - 8



1

Shareholder Committee
Workshop 

Tuesday 16 January 2018, 3pm
Witham Room, Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, 

Lincolnshire. NG31 6PZ

Chairman Councillor Barry Dobson

Present Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Jacky Smith

Other members Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

Officers Lucy Youles, Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services
Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

Gravitas Tracey Blackwell (Director)
Steve Ingram (Director)
Richard Wyles (Director)
Andrew Sweeney

Apologies Councillor Graham Jeal

NOTES
Members received a presentation on the Housing Development Programme and 
potential commercial opportunities it presented. The presentation included an 
overview of the advantages, both for Gravitas and the Council, of Gravitas carrying 
out appropriate elements of the programme.

Available SKDC-owned land and assets that had the potential to accommodate 
housing development had been identified, potentially providing scope for 608 new 
homes across 44 sites. Most of the sites were within the urban areas of the district 
however there were 16 potential sites in rural areas. A caveat was given that the total 
figure of potential new build homes was subject to full site evaluation and could be 
constrained by planning policy issues.

Page - 9

Agenda Item 5



2

Benefits of using land and assets that were already in SKDC’s ownership included:

- Exclusivity on purchase price at best value
- Opportunities to assemble a programme of sites and batching sites together to 

create a package that was appealing to developers and that could provide 
efficiencies in procurement and delivery

- Some sites had potential for the development of market homes

The possible disadvantages of using those sites that were in SKDC’s ownership 
included:

- The limited number of large sites in the Council’s portfolio; there were only 6 to 
10 sites that could accommodate developments of 30 houses or more

- The availability of the land was dependent on its current use being obsolete
- Some of the sites were located in predominantly social-rented neighbourhoods 

which could affect their attractiveness on the open market

The Council was also able to acquire land for housing development. Advantages of 
this approach included:

- Giving the Council control over delivery quality and providing opportunities to 
develop the full range of mixed tenure

- Increasing the asset portfolio 
- Ensuring that the supply targeted known areas of demand

A number of potential disadvantages were identified:

- The Council would be subject to competition when acquiring land, with 
competition inflating prices and potentially impacting on the viability of any 
development scheme

- There was a reliance on the availability of sites and access to those sites, 
specifically in relation to the potential for other developers to restrict or ransom 
site access across land in their ownership

When an HRA property becomes void the Council could choose whether to re-let that 
property or dispose of it based on value or priority. One potential opportunity for the 
appropriate disposal of void stock was selling it to Gravitas, thereby providing an 
opportunity to offer different housing products and tenures. The sale of void properties 
would provide a capital receipt for the Council while increasing Gravitas’ stock 
portfolio. This approach would also help to reduce the impact of Right to Buy sales. 

Alternatively void stock could be sold and leased back to the Council; the Council 
could then buy it back at the end of the designated term. This model had worked well 
in Birmingham and was common in the commercial property world however income 

Page - 10



3

would need to outweigh outgoing costs. As with the other option to sell void 
properties, this approach would generate a capital receipt for the Council, rental 
income for Gravitas however the assets would then return to SKDC at the end of the 
period. Members were advised that the disposal of any stock would have a related 
impact on the HRA, which would need to be taken into consideration.

The presentation included an indication of development costs, value and the level of 
return that could be expected from different tenure types across each of the towns in 
the district.

Additional opportunities that could be available to Gravitas included the potential use 
of shared ownership and other incentivised market sale housing, starter homes, rural 
housing and development of rent tenures to create revenue income. It could provide 
an opportunity for training and skills development, employing different types of 
delivery model for management including outsourcing or creating a management 
company or subsidiary, and opportunities for working in partnership.

There were a number of key areas that would form the basis for the Directors’ 
considerations. These were listed in the presentation and would be reflected in the 
formation of any new business plans and the future direction of the company. 
Members were also given an indication of the skills and resources that might be 
required to deliver any kind of housing programme, including the different channels 
through which that expertise might be available (current council employees, 
partnerships, outsourcing, etc).

The Committee recognised that less capital would be required if land the land used for 
development was already a Council asset. There was also a feeling amongst 
members that there would be fewer ways in which the Government could constrain 
the activities of the company than the Council. Some concern was expressed about 
the longer-term impacts on the Council of transferring assets to Gravitas. Some 
members were also concerned that once any money had been agreed, it would solely 
be within the jurisdiction of the company directors with no mechanism to cross-check 
its use.

There was consensus from members that in the first instance Gravitas’ focus should 
be about getting the quality of development at Wherry’s Lane, Bourne right, as this 
was the benchmark against which the mettle of the company would initially be 
measured. One Member added that they would not be comfortable for any more 
money to be transferred to Gravitas without the Wherry’s Lane project being 
completed.

There was also agreement that any development undertaken by the Company needed 
to ensure that supply met the identified demand. It was noted that it was possible to 
run an HRA housing development programme in parallel to, but independent of, a 
scheme being led by Gravitas or a subsidiary.

Potential development partners might include registered providers or private sector 
partners, and could increase the capacity to deliver in terms of both speed and 
development-size.

Page - 11



4

Members liked the flexibility offered by Gravitas and felt that there was some 
associated security provided by the company’s flexibility; if one area of the property 
market collapsed, the company could deploy a different model, for example switching 
from a sales focus to a rental focus.

The existing Gravitas business plan referred solely to the Wherry’s Lane scheme, 
which meant that, in order to extend the life of the company beyond the project, a new 
business plan would need to be developed. Income raised from the project could 
either be used to repay the loan made by the Council or it could be invested into the 
next site. 

One Committee Member suggested using a form of modular building to provide 
accommodation over existing car parking space. This type of development had been 
deployed successfully in urban areas.

Members asked about opportunities for the Company to buy empty houses to boost 
the company’s portfolio. It was suggested that this would be less expensive than 
developing new accommodation. Other objectives of any such project could include 
improving the quality of private sector provision and operating as an exemplar to 
private sector landlords. There was also recognition that acquiring properties in 
strategic locations could help with the generation of wider areas. 

Members were reminded that the Company was, in the first instance, created around 
a development model of new builds and the sale of those properties. If Members 
wanted to pursue a mixed approach, which would generate savings and reduce costs, 
then this could be incorporated within the Company’s new business plan.

Councillors also recognised benefits of buying new build properties off-plan for rental; 
this would provide an opportunity to negotiate discounts. Members noted that the 
housing company of a nearby local authority was expanding its purchase area from 
Cambridgeshire and Suffolk to South Kesteven. There was a risk that this might 
provide competition for Gravitas.

When the Committee was first determining its area of operations, analysis had been 
undertaken at the time by Savills. If Members were minded to revisit this approach 
then the valuations and projections within that analysis would need to be reviewed 
and updated.

Work on the potential yield of housing development projects indicated that the best 
returns for rental properties were most favourable in Grantham and Bourne. Prices for 
rental properties indicated that demand was outstripping supply. Buying properties 
from the open market relied on the availability of appropriate types of property that 
was of a good standard with a good maintenance record.

Early modelling for the Wherry’s Lane project indicated that capital sales were the 
best way forward however the development’s density still provided an opportunity for 
a mixed tenure. Financial modelling would need to be re-tested to identify whether 
sale was still the best option. Members were keen that the development should 

Page - 12



5

include an element of rental accommodation to provide an ongoing income stream for 
the company that could fund future development. Changing the tenure of the 
properties so that they were rental properties would reduce the available capital for 
future developments meaning that the Council would need to provide additional 
funding to pump prime any further development.

Members noted that there were a number of developers that were holding land and 
not building out permissions and wondered whether there would be opportunities for 
Gravitas to expedite this. 

Modelling had been undertaken to examine potential yields of the ‘buy to rent’ market. 
The modelling assumed that there would be strategic acquisition of specific property 
types across the district purchased via the company and let in the private sector. Early 
analysis indicated that 1 and 2-bed properties in Grantham and Bourne gave the best 
return, with an estimated yield of 6-7% and 5-6.5% respectively. Modelling work on 
the estimated yields had been based on a number of assumptions including 
management, repairs and arrangements for re-letting. 

Any loan from the Council would be on commercial terms and could be split between 
commercial lending and equity or the use of Gravitas’ own capital, with a suggestion 
put forward of 60% commercial lending and 40% equity. Modelling information on 
different loan arrangements was shared with members. Modelling assumed that 
properties would be bought off the market in average conditions and that there would 
be an agreed term in which the loan had to be paid back. The business plan assumed 
that properties would be sold and a surplus generated, which would be put back into 
the Council through dividends, while the capital receipts would be used to repay the 
loan and create a pipeline of capital for the Council to reinvest.

The Directors drew members’ attention to the possibility that extra resources may be 
required if they wanted to see a step-up in the activity of the company.

It was anticipated that the total Wherry’s Lane programme would take 18 months to 
deliver. It was the intention of the directors to begin to generate market interest in the 
development as soon as planning permission had been granted.

Members agreed that the primary focus for Gravitas should be completing the 
Wherry’s Lane development and requested that further work be carried out on the 
disposal of units and the mix available for sale and rent. Members also wanted to be 
supplied with details of key milestones and actions for the delivery of the project.

Close of meeting: 16:56

Page - 13



Document is Restricted

Page - 14

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page - 20

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page - 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2018
	5 Action notes from the workshop held on 16 January 2018
	6 Award of contract - Wherry's Lane development project
	Appendix A -Gravitas - Tender Summary
	Copy of APP B Wherry's Lane Ph2 Tender Quality Assessment


